THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DARLINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED
JAN 07 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This appeal arises out of an Order of the Circuit Court granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment and Denying Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment.

The Trial Court's final judgment was entered on March 22, 2018. Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal on June 6, 2018. This Court has jurisdiction to entertain the appeal and correct errors of law pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **Did the Circuit Court err in Granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment in finding that Respondent's issuance of a manual check in response to Appellant's offer of compromise constituted a valid and enforceable settlement agreement between the parties?**

- II. **Did the Circuit court err in Granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment in finding that Respondent's tender of only the bodily injury limits in response to Appellant's offer of compromise constituted a valid and enforceable settlement agreement between the parties?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This offer/acceptance contractual dispute originates from an August 2014 automobile versus motorcycle collision in Darlington County. The collision involved Defendant and Plaintiff's insured, Helen Metrotol-Ham. Due to Defendant's injuries, Defendant's counsel sent a time-limited offer of compromise to Plaintiff requesting payment of all applicable limits. In this circumstance, Ham's liability limits were \$50,000 in bodily injury and \$50,000 in property damage. The offer required payment of the policy limits by "Cashier's Checks, or Certified Bank Checks (not drafts) ..." (R., p. 558) In response, Plaintiff only tendered Ham's bodily injury limits and a hand-written, "manual" check. Since Plaintiff did not meet the terms of Defendant's offer, the settlement documents and \$50,000 bodily injury manual, non-certified check were returned to Plaintiff. Defendant later filed suit against Ham in the Darlington County Court of

Common Pleas, which was assigned case number 2015-CP-16-0001. Plaintiff filed its Amended Complaint for Declaratory Judgment (“DJ”) action on November 19, 2015, in the Darlington County Court of Common Pleas. In its DJ, Plaintiff sought a declaration that it fulfilled its obligations under its policy and Defendant’s Offer. (R., p. 17-18) Defendant filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on December 7, 2017. (R., p. 53) Plaintiff filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on December 18, 2017. (R., p. 84) The Trial Court’s final judgment granting Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment was entered on March 22, 2018. (R., p. 1) On April 16, 2018, Defendant filed a Motion to Reconsider the granting of Plaintiff’s Motion to Reconsider. (R., p. 374) The Trial Court found it unnecessary to hear oral arguments and Denied Defendant’s Motion to Reconsider on May 15, 2018. Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal on June 6, 2018.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is “an extreme remedy to be cautiously invoked.” *Holloman v. McAllister*, 289 S.C. 183, 186, 345 S.E.2d 728, 729 (1986). Summary judgment should only be granted “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56, SCRPC. When reviewing the grant of summary judgment, the Appellate Court applies the same standard that governs the trial court. *Helms Realty, Inc. v. Gibson-Wall Co.*, 363 S.C 334, 340, 611 S.E.2d 485, 488 (2005). An appellate court may decide questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court. *Verenes v. Alvanos*, 387 S.C. 11, 690 S.E.2d 771 (2010). “On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party

below.” *Osborne v. Adams*, 346 S.C. 4, 7, 550 S.E.2d 319, 321 (2001). This Court therefore has the authority to review this question presented *De Novo*.

ARGUMENT

I. Appellant’s demand that Respondent issue a certified or cashier’s check in payment of the claim was not complied with by Respondent, and therefore prevented contract formation and prohibited the circuit court from enforcing an agreement between the parties.

As a preliminary matter, in South Carolina settlement agreements are viewed as contracts. *Pee Dee Stores, Inc. v. Doyle*, 381 S.C. 234, 241, 672 S.E.2d 799, 802 (Ct. App. 2009). Therefore, general contract principles are applied in the construction of a settlement agreement. *Id.* “Generally, parties are free to contract to anything as long as it is not illegal, unconscionable, or against the public interest.” *Bicycle Transit Authority, Inc. v. Bell*, 333 S.E.2d 299, 305 (N.C.1985). South Carolina common law requires that, in order to have a valid and enforceable contract, there must be a meeting of the minds between the parties with regard to all essential and material terms of the agreement. *Hughes v. Edwards*, 265 S.C. 529, 220 S.E.2d 231 (1975). When “an agreement is clear and capable of legal construction, the courts [sic] only function is to interpret its lawful meaning and the intent of the parties as found within the agreement.” *Messer v. Messer*, 359 S.C. 614, 628, 598 S.E.2d 310, 317 (Ct. App. 2004). When an agreement is plain and unambiguous, the court does *not* have the authority to modify its terms. *Patricia Grand Hotel, LLC v. MacGuire Enters.*, 372 S.C. 634, 640, 643 S.E.2d 692, 695 (Ct. App. 2007). “The court is without authority to consider parties’ secret intentions, and therefore words cannot be read into a contract to impart an intent unexpressed when the contract was executed.” *Blakeley v. Rabon*, 266 S.C. 68, 73, 221 S.E.2d 767, 769 (1976). “It is only when the language of a settlement agreement is susceptible to more than one interpretation that

the court has the duty to ascertain the intention of the parties.” *Mattox v. Cassady*, 289 S.C. 57, 60, 344 S.E.2d 620, 622 (Ct. App. 1986). “The intentions of the parties to a settlement agreement must be determined as far as possible from the terms of the contract and once determined, they must be given effect by the court.” *Kane v. Kane*, 280 S.C. 479, 481, 313 S.E.2d 327, 329 (Ct. App. 1984).

“Nothing is better settled than that in order to constitute a contract there must be an offer on one side and an unconditional acceptance on the other.” *Sossaman v. Littlejohn*, 241 S.C. 478, 485-86, 128 S.E.2d 124, 127 (1963) (quoting *Cohn v. Penn. Beverage Co.*, 313 Pa. 169 A. 768). It is well established that, in order to constitute a contract, “the acceptance of the offer *must be absolute and identical* with the terms of the offer. *Id.* Thus, if one party offers another party to do a definite thing, and that other party accepts conditionally or proffers a new term into the acceptance, his answer is nothing more than a counter proposal. *Id.* (holding that the time and manner of payment on a contractual obligation is a material part of a transaction, and where plaintiff proposed his alleged acceptance conditions other than cash upon delivery was a counter proposal, not a contractual acceptance); *see also* Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 59 (1981) (“A reply to an offer which purports to accept it but is conditional on the offeror’s assent to terms additional to or different from those offered is not an acceptance but is a counter-offer.”). “South Carolina common law requires that, in order to have a valid and enforceable contract, there must be a meeting of the minds between the parties with regard to all essential and material terms of the agreement.” *Player v. Chandler*, 299 S.C. 101, 105, 382 S.E.2d 891, 893 (1989).

The Fourth Circuit Court in the case of *Ozyagcilar v. Davis*, 701 F.2d 306 (4th Cir. 1983) noted that “although the district court had the power to enforce complete settlement agreements, it does not have the power to impose, in the role of arbiter, a settlement agreement where there

was never a meeting of the parties' minds." *Ozyagcilar*, 701 F.2d at 308. The Court noted that "where there has been no meeting of the minds sufficient to form a complete settlement agreement, any partial performance of the settlement agreement must be rescinded and the case restored to the docket for trial." *Id.* The Fourth Circuit found "the district court erred by not conducting a hearing to determine whether there had been a meeting of the minds as to the settlement agreement, and if so, to determine the terms and conditions of the settlement agreement." *Id.* As previously stated, the circuit court's role in determining the actual terms of the settlement agreement between the parties is similar to the court's role in interpreting the terms of a contract. *Id.* However, it is clear that the district court only retains the power to enforce complete settlement agreements; it does not have the power to impose, in the role of a final arbiter, a settlement agreement where there was never a meeting of the parties' minds. *Wood v. Virginia Hauling Co.*, 528 F.2d 423, 425 (4th Cir. 1975). Where there has been no meeting of the minds sufficient to form a complete settlement agreement, any partial performance of the settlement agreement must be rescinded and the case restored to the docket for trial. *Id.* The Fourth Circuit Court in *Ozyagcilar* reversed and remanded, holding that "the proper role of the district court in enforcing settlement agreements was made clear in *Wood*. There, in remanding a similar case to the district judge, we described his role as "to find, if he can the terms of the complete settlement agreement, or to determine that there was none." *Id.* (emphasis in original). Thus, it is improper for the district court, by its own motion or by agreement of the parties, to place itself in the role of a "final arbiter" of a settlement agreement. *Id.* Instead, on remand, the district court should, after a plenary hearing, determine if there was a settlement agreement between the parties and, if so, its terms and conditions." *Id.* Indeed, "[i]t is fundamental that courts enforce contracts and do not rewrite them." *Schmidt v. Magnetic Head Corp.*, 97

A.D.2d 151, 157, 468 N.Y.S.2d 649, 654 (1983) (internal citations omitted)(emphasis added). “The courts may not by construction add or excise terms, nor distort the meaning of those used and thereby make a new contract for the parties under the guise of interpreting the writing.” *Morlee Sales Corp. v. Manufacturers Trust Co.*, 9 N.Y.2d 16, 19, 210 N.Y.S.2d 516, 172 N.E.2d 280 (internal citations and quotations omitted). Where the intention of the parties is clearly and unambiguously set forth in the agreement itself, effect must be given to the intent as indicated by the language used without regard to extrinsic evidence – the subjective intent of the parties is irrelevant. *Mallad Construction Corp. v. County Fed. Sav. & Loan Assoc.*, 32 N.Y.2d 285, 344 N.Y.S.2d 925, 298 N.E.2d 96. There can be no doubt that “the best evidence of what the parties intended is what they say in their writing.” *In re World Trade Ctr. Disaster Site Litig.*, 754 F.3d 114 (2d Cir. 2014).

In interpreting contracts, the court should ascertain and give legal effect to the parties' intentions. *Gilbert v. Miller*, 356 S.C. 25, 30, 586 S.E.2d 861, 864 (Ct. App. 2003) (“The main guide in contract interpretation is to ascertain and give legal effect to the intentions of the parties as expressed in the language of the lease.”). Where the language of the contract is clear and unambiguous, the court must construe the contract according to the terms the parties used as understood in their plain, ordinary, and popular sense. *Schulmeyer v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 353 S.C. 491, 495, 579 S.E.2d 132, 134 (2003). The court's duty “is limited to the interpretation of the contract made by the parties themselves regardless of its wisdom or folly, apparent unreasonableness, or [the parties'] failure to guard their rights carefully,” *C.A.N. Enters., Inc. v. S.C. Health & Human Servs. Fin. Comm'n*, 296 S.C. 373, 373 S.E.2d 584, 587 (1988) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). “An unaccepted settlement offer—like any unaccepted contract offer—is a legal nullity, with no operative effect. As every first-year law student learns,

the recipient's rejection of an offer leaves the matter as if no offer had ever been made.” *Genesis Healthcare Corp. v. Symczyk*, 569 U.S. 66, 81, 133 S. Ct. 1523, 1533, 185 L. Ed. 2d 636 (2013) (Justice Thomas).

At the very heart of this case is the question of whether Respondent, by issuing a “manual” check and not a cashier’s check or a certified check, complied with the terms of the Appellant’s offer and whether the circuit court had the authority to enforce a settlement agreement between the parties absent that compliance. The purpose of the DJ was to determine whether or not Respondent had complied with and met the terms of Appellant’s offer of compromise. Appellant’s offer was not for goods; rather, it was for tender of all applicable policy limits in the form of a certified or cashier’s check, which very clearly and repeatedly included the required tender of all bodily injury and property damage limits. Appellant’s offer of compromise states, on page 6 in underlined text, “Payment must be made as described herein, and payment by any other method, including payment through the registry of any court or through the filing of an interpleader action, will not satisfy the terms of this offer of compromise and will result in the immediate and automatic withdrawal of this offer of compromise.” (R., p. 560) Additionally, the offer of compromise specifically states, on page 7, “in order to accept this offer of compromise, you must meet all of the terms and conditions of this offer of compromise, including, but not limited to, providing payment and a proposed Release that comply with the terms of this offer of compromise.” (R., p. 561) The offer of compromise very clearly expressed the manner in which payment was to be tendered.

It is clear that, as a matter of law, and in accordance with our Supreme Court in *Sossaman*, the form of payment in an offer is a material term. Appellant specifically required payment of the policy limits by “Cashier’s Checks, or Certified Bank Checks (not drafts) ...”

(R., p. 558) The language of the offer could not be clearer. The Offer goes to great lengths and pains to inform Respondent that payment is to be made by Cashier's Check or Certified Check only, and that any modification to the terms set forth in the offer constitutes a counteroffer and complete rejection of the offer extended to Respondent. Because Respondent's purported acceptance contained conditions other than a cashier's check or certified check, its delivery of a manual check that did not include full bodily injury and property damage limits was a counteroffer and not a contractual acceptance. It attempted to impose new conditions not contemplated in the offer and constituted a counter proposal as to a material term of the offer, to which Appellant was required to assent before there could be a meeting of the minds between the parties. Respondent essentially asked the Trial Court to reform the offer to suit its own purposes and force Appellant to accept a settlement offer that was never made. Such an imposition would be outside the province of the Court as the settlement agreement is not susceptible of more than one interpretation. Respondent is effectively attempting to eviscerate the common law mirror image rule and 200 years of South Carolina contract law by claiming that it met the terms of Appellant's offer to compromise. The facts lead to only one inescapable conclusion: a binding contract never formed between the parties as the Respondent's manual check never met the essential and material terms of Appellant's offer of compromise. Therefore, the Trial Court erred in concluding that Respondent complied with Appellant's offer and that a binding contract formed.

II. Appellant's demand that Respondent tender all applicable policy limits was not complied with by Respondent, and therefore prevented contract formation and prohibited the circuit court from enforcing an agreement between the parties.

The majority of the caselaw set forth above is equally applicable to the argument made here. As articulated by the Court in *Sossaman*, “the acceptance of the offer *must be absolute and identical* with the terms of the offer”. *Sossaman*, 241 S.C. at 486. As Justice Thomas stated in *Genesis Healthcare Corp.*, “an unaccepted settlement offer—like any unaccepted contract offer—is a legal nullity, with no operative effect.” *Genesis Healthcare Corp.*, 569 S.C. at 81. The “meeting of minds” required to make a contract is not based on secret purpose or intention on the part of one of the parties, stored away in his mind and not brought to the attention of the other party, but must be based on purpose and intention which has been made known or which, from all the circumstances, should be known. *McClintock v. Skelly Oil Co.*, 232 Mo.App. 1204, 114 S.W.2d 181 (Mo. App. 1938). A valid and enforceable contract requires a meeting of the minds between the parties with regard to all essential and material terms of the agreement. *Patricia Grand Hotel, LLC v. MacGuire Enters.*, 372 S.C. 634, 638, 643 S.E.2d 692, 694 (Ct. App., 2007).

At issue here is the question of whether Respondent, by only tendering the bodily injury limits, complied with the terms of the Appellant's offer and whether the circuit court had the authority to enforce a settlement agreement between the parties absent that compliance. Appellant's offer of compromise included and repeatedly and fully conveyed that tender of all applicable policies was required, including bodily injury and property damage limits. (R., p. 558) This was not a request; it was a requirement as a material term of the offer. Appellant's offer of compromise states in pertinent part on page 4, “we require payment of the policy limits of all