THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

DEC 19 2018

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DARLINGTON COUNTY  
Court Of Common Pleas

The Honorable Paul M. Burch, Judicial Circuit Court Judge  
Trial Court Case No.: 2015CP1600815

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-001108

---

Allstate Fire and Casualty Insurance Company..... Respondent,

v.

Pamela Goodwin.....Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ALLSTATE FIRE AND CASUALTY  
INSURANCE COMPANY

---

John T. Lay, Jr. (S.C. Bar No.64526)  
A. Johnston Cox (S.C. Bar No. 09081)  
Janice Holmes (S.C. Bar No. 75038)  
GALLIVAN, WHITE & BOYD, P.A.  
Post Office Box 7368  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. Standard of Review

“Summary judgment is appropriate where the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” *Rife v. Hitachi Const. Machinery Co., Ltd.*, 363 S.C. 209, 213, 609 S.E.2d 565, 568 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing *Belton v. Cincinnati Ins. Co.*, 360 S.C. 575, 602 S.E.2d 389 (2004) and Rule 56, SCRCP). The purpose of summary judgment is to expedite disposition of cases that do not require the services of a fact finder. *Rife*, 363 S.C. at 215, 609 S.E.2d at 568 (citing *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 580 S.E.2d 443 (2003)). “Further, summary judgment depends upon the existence of plain, undisputed facts on which reasonable minds cannot differ.” *Allen v. Long Mfg. NC, Inc.*, 332 S.C. 422, 426, 505 S.E.2d 354, 356 (Ct. App. 1998) (citing *Priest v. Brown*, 302 S.C. 405, 396 S.E.2d 638 (Ct. App. 1990)). “When reviewing the grant of summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRCP.” *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493-494, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002) (citing *Peterson v. West Am. Ins. Co.*, 336 S.C. 89, 94, 518 S.E.2d 608, 610 (Ct. App. 1990)).

Here, Allstate demonstrated that it was entitled to entry of judgment in its favor as a matter of law with regard to the validity and enforcement of the settlement agreement that was formed upon its acceptance of Goodwin’s time-sensitive demand. Goodwin has failed to present any basis upon which the circuit court’s grant of summary judgment in Allstate and Ham’s favor should be reversed. Allstate interpreted the demand to require payment of the \$50,000 bodily injury limits be paid by a certain time. Allstate’s

interpretation of the requirements of the demand was correct as evidenced by Goodwin's testimony where she acknowledges that she was seeking payment of the \$50,000 bodily injury policy limits. The evidence clearly shows that Allstate complied with the terms of the demand. Allstate issued a check for the \$50,000.00 bodily injury limits of the policy in a form that was immediately available to her before the arbitrary deadline included in the demand. The circuit court properly granted Allstate's Motion on these undisputed facts and the grant of summary judgment should be affirmed.

## **II. The Circuit Court Properly Granted Allstate's Motion for Summary Judgment.**

The circuit court's determination that the settlement agreement was viable and enforceable was correct under the terms of the demand and South Carolina law and should be affirmed.

### **A. Goodwin Cannot Rely Upon Arguments That Were Never Presented To, Nor Considered By, the Circuit Court.**

Before delving into the merits of the circuit court's decision, it is important to define the contours of Goodwin's arguments in opposition to Allstate's Motion and in support of her own Motion because Goodwin appears to be trying to raise new arguments on appeal that are not properly before this Court.

In her Opening Brief, Goodwin includes an argument regarding South Carolina contract interpretation and the application of unambiguous policy language. Notably, this discussion is missing from Goodwin's moving papers that were submitted to the circuit court. Goodwin appears to be contending that the circuit court improperly modified the

terms of the settlement demand.<sup>4</sup> These specific arguments were not presented to the circuit court on either Goodwin's Motion, Goodwin's Opposition, or on Goodwin's Motion to Reconsider. Therefore, these issues should not be considered on appeal.

The law is clear that only issues "fairly and properly raised to the lower court and passed upon by that court" can be appealed. *State v. Oxner*, 391 S.C. 132, 134, 705 S.E.2d 51, 52 (internal quotations omitted). *See also Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 565, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006). For this Court to have "a platform for meaningful appellate review," *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011), the circuit court must have had the opportunity *for each theory advanced by Appellant* "to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments," *I'On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). Goodwin cannot keep "ace card[s] up [her] sleeve - intentionally or by chance - in the hope that an appellate court will accept th[ose] ace card[s] and, via a reversal, give [her] another opportunity to prove [her] case." *I'On*, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724. However, that is exactly what Goodwin attempts to do in this appeal. Because these new arguments are outside the scope of arguments presented to and considered by the circuit court, they are not on appeal.

Notwithstanding the fact these arguments are not properly before this Court, even if the Court were to consider these arguments, they fail. Goodwin's reliance on the

---

<sup>4</sup> Goodwin also appears to be arguing for the first time that the circuit court did not properly interpret the language of the settlement demand. In support of this argument, Goodwin cites to several out-of-jurisdiction decisions seemingly in an attempt to establish certain precedent regarding interpretation of contracts. This argument is not properly before this Court. Further, as illustrated by Goodwin's testimony in this case, there is no dispute regarding the terms of the settlement agreement and the purpose of this argument is unclear.

Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals' decision in *Ozyagcilar v. Davis*, 701 F.2d 306 (4th Cir. 1983) is misplaced. The *Ozyagcilar* court explained in that decision that because there was an actual misunderstanding regarding the terms of the settlement, the district court was required to have conducted a plenary hearing and make findings regarding whether there was a meeting of the minds. This case is readily distinguishable.

There is no question that there was a meeting of the minds in this case. Goodwin, by her own testimony, explained that she expected to receive the \$50,000 bodily injury limits in issuing the demand to Allstate. She could not articulate any material difference between a certified, cashiers or insurance company check. While Allstate could not "issue" a cashier's or certified check, the check Allstate could issue was sent and operated such that the funds were available in the same way the funds would be for a cashier's or certified check. Also, Goodwin testified that she did not expect to receive policy limits, or any amount, for property damage without providing a release for the claim and acknowledged that the demand stated a property damage release would not be given. In fact, Goodwin specifically stated she "was demanding the \$50,000 and at a certain time limit." (*See R.*, p. 144) There is no question that the circuit court properly considered the evidence in this case and determined that the evidence – including Goodwin's testimony – demonstrated that there was a meeting of the minds and that Allstate's performance of the material, essential terms of the settlement demand operated such that the claim was settled.<sup>5</sup>

---

<sup>5</sup> Likewise, the Fourth Circuit's decision in *Wood v. Virginia Hauling Co.*, 528 F.2d 423 (4th Cir. 1975) is also distinguishable. Again, that case involved a factual dispute about the terms included in the agreement such that the district court was required to have an evidentiary hearing. There is no such factual dispute at issue here because Allstate and Goodwin actually agree about the terms of the settlement demand.

**B. Allstate's Acceptance and Performance of the Material Terms of the Settlement Demand Constitute a Valid Acceptance.**

In her Motion, Goodwin's only argument was that Allstate "only tendered Ham's bodily injury limits and a hand-written, 'manual' check." (R., p. 54) During her deposition, Goodwin testified her only issue with Allstate's acceptance of the demand was the form of the check. (See R., pp. 142, 146-147, 160-168) Further, Goodwin contends "under basic, long-standing common law contract principles, Allstate's 'acceptance' was effectively a counteroffer." (See R., p. 2) Goodwin's contention is not supported by South Carolina law. Rather, the principles of South Carolina contract law mandate affirming the trial court's entry of summary judgment in favor of Allstate and Ham.

Under South Carolina law, "[i]n construing a contract, the primary objective is to ascertain and give effect to the intention of the parties." *Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries v. Outparcel Assocs., LLC*, 374 S.C. 483, 497, 649 S.E.2d 494, 501 (Ct. App. 2007). Further, under South Carolina law, for there to be a valid contract, there must be an offer, an acceptance, and valuable consideration. See *Nutt Corp. v. Howell Rd., LLC*, 396 S.C. 323, 328, 721 S.E.2d 447, 450 (Ct. App. 2011) (determining a valid contract existed because there was evidence of a meeting of the minds as to the terms and conditions of the agreement) (citing *Clardy v. Bodolosky*, 383 S.C. 418, 425, 679 S.E.2d 527, 530 (Ct. App. 2009) ("The necessary elements for a contract are an offer, acceptance, and valuable consideration.")). In addition, under South Carolina law, a valid and enforceable contract is created when there is "a meeting of the minds between the parties with regard to all *essential* and *material* terms of the agreement." *Nutt Corp.*, 396 S.C. at 328, 721 S.E.2d

at 450 (citing *Player v. Chandler*, 299 S.C. 101, 106, 382 S.E.2d 891, 893 (1989)) (emphasis added). *See also Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 568, 578, 762 S.E.2d 696, 701 (2014) (explaining that “[a] valid and enforceable contract requires a meeting of the minds between the parties with regard to *all* essential and material terms of the agreement.”) (emphasis in original).

Goodwin testified that her intention in sending the December 12, 2014 letter to Allstate for the limits of the policy was to actually receive the full, \$50,000 bodily injury limits to resolve her claim under the policy. *See Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries*, 374 S.C. at 498, 649 S.E.2d at 502 (“In ascertaining intent, the court will strive to discover the situation of the parties, along with their purposes at the time the contract was entered.”); Goodwin Depo., pp. 50, 108-109. There is no question that Allstate’s acceptance of the settlement demand is valid and enforceable. There was an offer from Goodwin that was accepted by Allstate, which provided valuable consideration to Goodwin. Further, there is no question that Allstate met the essential and material terms of Goodwin’s demand – the payment of the entire \$50,000 policy limits for Goodwin’s alleged bodily injuries. Therefore, the trial court properly determined that Allstate and Ham were entitled to entry of summary judgment in their favor.

Goodwin’s contention seems to suggest that because Allstate’s acceptance of the settlement demand was not a so-called “mirror image” in that the type of check issued was not a cashier’s check or certified check there was no valid settlement. Contrary to Goodwin’s assertion, the type of check is not a material term of the settlement demand, and further, it was a term that was impossible for Allstate to meet.

Goodwin testified that the reason she wanted a certified or cashier’s check in this

form was because this type of check would help the settlement along faster. (See R., p. 144) It should go without saying that insurance companies such as Allstate do not issue cashier's checks or certified checks. (See R., p. 121) Moreover, Goodwin has not demonstrated that issuing such checks in this manner is an accepted practice for insurance companies.

Notwithstanding this fact, at least one South Carolina court has questioned the continued vitality of the so-called "mirror-image" rule and has noted that it is outdated in that it was "well suited to simple, one time transactions, in which the parties contract face to face" and that "it fails to accommodate the realities of much modern commercial practice." *Weisz Graphics Div. of Fred B. Johnson Co. v. Peck Indus.*, 304 S.C. 101, 106, 403 S.E.2d 146, 149 (Ct. App. 1991).

In addition, Goodwin has pointed to no South Carolina case stating that such a rule would apply to determine that Allstate's performance of the actual essential and material terms of the time-sensitive demand constitutes a counteroffer. Further, as has been demonstrated by Goodwin's testimony, the reason for the inclusion of this specific term was to "help[] it along a lot faster." (See R., p. 144) Because there is no material difference between how the manual check issued by Allstate in this case and a certified or cashier's check issued by a bank would be treated in South Carolina, Allstate's issuance of the manual check (the kind of check that it can actually issue), does not constitute a counteroffer.

Our Supreme Court has already determined that payment in the form of a cashier's or certified check is not an essential or material term of a settlement agreement. South Carolina Rule of Professional Conduct 1.15 states as such. Specifically, the rule

provides in pertinent part:

(f)(1) A lawyer shall not disburse funds from an account containing the funds of more than one client or third person (“trust account”) unless the funds to be disbursed have been deposited in the account and are collected funds.

(2) Notwithstanding Subsection (f)(1) above, a lawyer may disburse funds from a trust account at the lawyer’s risk in reliance on the following deposits when the deposit is made:

\*\*\*\*

(iv) by a certified check, cashier’s check, or other check drawn by a depository institution or an insurance company, provided the insurance company check does not exceed \$50,000.

Rules of Professional Conduct: Rule 1.15, RPC, Rule 407, SCACR. Therefore, per the mandate of the South Carolina Supreme Court, a check issued by an insurance company that does not exceed \$50,000 is treated the same as a certified check, cashier’s check, or other check drawn by a depository institution – i.e., the money would be immediately available, which addresses Goodwin’s concern. (*See R.*, p. 144)

Further, there is no valid reason for demanding a cashier’s or certified check from an insurance company to resolve an insurance claim. The only reason to send a nine-page demand letter with multiple footnotes, containing multiple requirements that the insurance company must meet, including payment by way of a certified or cashier’s check “issued” by the insurance company, all within a short period of time, is to attempt to manufacture a future so-called *Tyger River* claim. The form of the payment is not a material term of the agreement – the amount is the material term. It would be no different than if Goodwin had demanded payment of the \$50,000 in pennies rather than a certified check. Settlement of claims should not be reduced to a game of cat and mouse. While Allstate is entitled to prevail on this issue as a matter of law, Allstate is also

entitled to prevail on this issue as a matter of civility and common sense, both of which are important components to the process of settling insurance claims.

Therefore, the circuit court correctly granted Allstate's Motion as a matter of law and the grant should be affirmed.

**C. Allstate's Performance of the Settlement Demand Constitutes an Accord and Satisfaction.**

Under South Carolina law, "[t]he essential elements of an accord and satisfaction are an agreement to settle a dispute and consideration which supports the agreement." *Wilson v. Builders Transp., Inc.*, 330 S.C. 287, 297, 498 S.E.2d 674, 680 (Ct. App. 1998). Here, as previously stated, there was an offer to settle Goodwin's claim, Allstate accepted the offer, and provided the demanded consideration to support the agreement to settle Goodwin's claim. This is a textbook example of an accord and satisfaction.

The circuit court correctly determined that an accord and satisfaction was present in this case. Allstate sought to comply with the arbitrary deadline imposed by the December 12, 2014 letter, and based on prior experience with Goodwin's counsel, it understood that it would not receive an extension of the deadline by which to tender the \$50,000 policy limits. Given the time restraints, Allstate issued a manual check and had to overnight the check with the other requested items to counsel in order to comply with the deadline. And, as stated above, a check issued by an insurance company that does not exceed \$50,000.00 is treated the same as a certified check or a cashier's check for purposes of disbursement of the funds to Goodwin. Therefore, Allstate's manual check was sufficient to meet the terms of the agreement and the payment thereof constitutes an accord and satisfaction.

## CONCLUSION

The circuit court properly granted Allstate's Motion and properly declared that Allstate's acceptance of the time-sensitive demand was valid and enforceable such that Allstate and Ham have no further obligation regarding Goodwin's claim. Allstate accepted and performed the material, essential terms of the time-sensitive demand and such performance created a valid and enforceable agreement and an accord and satisfaction under South Carolina law. Therefore, Allstate respectfully requests this Court affirm the circuit court's grant of its Motion for Summary Judgment.

December 19, 2018